
CHARTER TOWNSHIP  

OF YPSILANTI  

PLANNING COMMISSION 

January 11, 2022 

Regular Meeting – 6:30 p.m. 

SALLY RICHIE, CHAIR 
BILL SINKULE, VICE CHAIR 
LARRY KRIEG, SECRETARY 

GLORIA PETERSON, BOARD LIAISON
ELIZABETH EL-ASSADI 

MUDDASAR TAWAKKUL  
LARRY DOE 



7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-3943 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
Tuesday, January 11, 2022 

6:30 P.M. 

If you need any assistance due to a disability please contact the Planning 
Department at least 48 hours in advance of the meeting at planning@ytown.org or 

734-485-3943. 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

2. ROLL CALL 

3. APPROVAL OF THE NOVEMBER 23, 2021 REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

A. SHOOT POINT BLANK - 660 JAMES L HART PARKWAY (PACEL K-11-17-361-021) – TO 
CONSIDER REQUEST TO AMEND THE PLANNED DEVELOPMENT STAGE II APPROVAL 
ALONG WITH ASSOCIATED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT TO PROVIDE FOR AN INDOOR 
GUN RANGE (INDOOR RECREATION), CLASSROOM, AND RETAIL SALES  

6. OLD BUSINESS 

A. DRAFT YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP ZONING ORDINANCE AND ZONING MAP—TO CONSIDER 
REVISED ZONING ORDINANCE AND MAP PER COMMENTS RECEIVED AT THE 
NOVEMBER 23, 2021 PUBLIC HEARING 

7. NEW BUSINESS  

A. SHOOT POINT BLANK - 660 JAMES L HART PARKWAY (PACEL K-11-17-361-021) - FULL 
SITE PLAN – TO CONSIDER A FULL SITE PLAN FOR CONSTRUCTION OF A 15,019 
SQUARE FOOT BUILDING TO PROVIDE FOR AN INDOOR GUN RANGE (INDOOR 
RECREATION), CLASSROOM, AND RETAIL SALES 

B. ADOPTION OF REGULAR PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING DATES FOR THE 2022 
CALENDAR YEAR 

8. OPEN DISCUSSION FOR ISSUES NOT ON THE AGENDA 

A. CORRESPONDENCE RECEIVED 
B. PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBERS 
C. MEMBERS OF THE AUDIENCE

9. TOWNSHIP BOARD REPRESENTATIVE REPORT 



7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-3943 

10. ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS REPRESENTATIVE REPORT 

11. TOWNSHIP ATTORNEY REPORT 

12. PLANNING DEPARTMENT REPORT 

13. OTHER BUSINESS 

14. ADJOURNMENT

Please Note:  This meeting is being recorded 



Page 1 of 6

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS

Wednesday, November 23rd, 2021

6:30pm

COMMISSIONERS PRESENT

Sally Richie, Chair - EXCUSED 

Bill Sinkule, Vice Chair 

Larry Kreig, Secretary 

Elizabeth El-Assadi, ZBA Liaison 

Larry Doe 

Muddasar Tawakkul 

Gloria Peterson- Board Liaison 

STAFF AND CONSULTANTS

Jason Iacoangeli, Planning Director 

Amy Steffens, Planning and Development Coordinator 

Fletcher Reyher, Staff Planner 

Denny McLain, McLain and winters 

Megan Masson-Minock, Carlisle Wortman Associates 

Ben Carlisle, Carlisle Wortman Associates 

MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

i. CALL TO ORDER/ESTABLISH QUORUM 

MOTION: Mr. Sinkule called the meeting to order at 6:30pm. 

II. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

MOTION:  Ms. El-Assadi MOVED to approve the agenda as presented. The MOTION was 

SECONDED by Mr. Kreigand PASSED by unanimous consent. 

III. APPROVAL OF OCTOBER 21stMEETING MINUTES 

MOTION: Mr. Doe MOVED to approve the previous Board Meeting Minutes as presented. The 

MOTION was SECONDED by Ms. El-Assadi and PASSED by unanimous consent. 

IV. PUBLIC HEARING 

DRAFT YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP ZONING ORDINANCE AND ZONING MAP – To receive comments 

from the public on the draft Ypsilanti Township Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map 

Mr. Iacoangeli stated that the work on the zoning ordinance has taken over a year, and is the 

product of a lengthy process, while creating the Ypsilanti 2040 master plan. He also mentioned 



Page 2 of 6

that the draft was ready to be reviewed by the public for any comments. Mr. Iacoangeli also 

stated that as part of this drafting process, the statutory requirement is, for the public notice to 

be presented in a paper of publishable quality, which was executed 15 days prior to this meeting 

in accordance to the state law and other requirements. The Ypsilanti Township, planning 

department, sent notices to about 700 property owners, notifying them of the possible zoning 

change, and also requesting them, to reach out to the planning departments, if there were any 

concerns. The notice also included the dates and times with contact numbers and emails, for 

any comments. 

Mr. Iacoangeli informs the board that they have received letters which was submitted to the 

board to be acknowledged as part of the record for the public hearing. He also mentioned that 

Carlisle Wortman, who has partnered with the township for the drafting of the zoning 

ordinance, was present for the public hearing. Carlisle Wortman would introduce some of the 

high points and the background to public, before the public hearing. 

Mr. Iacoangeli  also mentioned that during the public hearing, the public would be able to give 

their comments and questions will be answered at the end of the hearing. The highly technical 

questions would be addressed in a timely manner. 

Ms. Megan Massen Minock (Senior Planner, Carlisle Wortman) presented to the board and 

public, that there is two parts to the zoning ordinance - Zoning Map and Zoning Text, both 

would have significant changes. She mentioned that are two zoning maps, a current zoning map 

and a proposed zoning map. The zoning map is identified by the color that’s laid over a piece of 

property. It lays down rules and regulations, of what can happen over a property, its uses and 

helps in identifying whether its residential or an office property. It also helps in identifying, 

where a building can be built. The form-based zoning districts would have additional regulations 

– design of the building/roadways/ proposed location of the building. 

Ms. Minock also mentions about the things that won't have a change between the current 

zoning and the proposed zoning map. She points out that, the purple spots with numbers would 

continue being the same, since they are the planned developments, and are called contract 

zoning. When the township has a certain agreement with a property owner, for them to do 

certain things, there won't be any changes to the zoning map. The yellow and green spots 

identify the single-family districts. If the property falls in (R1, R2, R3, R4, R5) districts, the zoning 

doesn’t change for the individual home owners. Ms. Minock mentions that in some cases the 

single-family designation has expanded to things that are presently zoned multiple family. This is 

to preserve the neighborhoods. She also stated that there were some consolidations on the 

maps where the key on the current zoning map is longer and the prints are smaller than the key 

on the proposed zoning map. 

The major zoning map changes proposed is the agricultural overlay, this is marked with the 

green shading, the zoning under the agricultural overlay could be residential or industrial. This 

would give the property owner additional property rights to have a farm operation, agro- 

tourism with special land uses and small-scale onsite processing. This was part of the master 

plan to benefit the agricultural businesses in the township. 



Page 3 of 6

Ms. Minock, also stated that there were some eliminations and renaming of multiple family 

districts (RM1, RM2, RM3, RM4, RM5), RM1 and RM5 are been eliminated. RM2, RM3, RM4 

would be renamed as low, medium and high-density multiple family. There would not be any 

changes to the bulk stair treads, but adding a height limit to the high-density multiple- family 

and there is no rezoning of any properties in the RM district. 

The other map proposed changes are the office district (1) and the neighborhood business 

district (2- B1 and B2), these are proposed to be form based districts. There is a proposal for 

elimination of parking district, there are areas designated for zone parking. With the multiple 

requests from the township for semi-truck parking, the teams involved in this development has 

allocated the P1 – Parking District to accommodate the uses in the township. This addition was 

not in the master plan, but with request of the leadership, it was implemented. 

Ms. Minock, also stated the renaming of the industrial district (IRO and I1) as Innovation 

Technology, these would be located in the same location. I2 and I3 are proposed to become 

logistic and manufacturing, they would also be located in the same location. Industrial 

Commercial proposed to continue to use the same name, but the district boundaries would split 

and expand to accommodate range of creative uses and marijuana businesses. 

There is also a creation of form-based districts, 3 type of neighborhoods (Ecorse and Packard 

Regional /Washtenaw, Michigan Avenue and Town Centre/Huron). The major changes to these 

districts are the regulations for the location of the buildings, on different lots based on their 

sizes. The proposal is to push the buildings closer to the street with the parking allocation to the 

side or behind the buildings. This would emphasize the mix use of both commercial and 

residential either in the same building or the same complex. These buildings would maintain a 

high architectural standard, and in some cases, its tailored to that particular district, especially in 

the Town Centre. 

Each of the form-based districts would have a regulating plan, and it's represented by the color 

of shades of blue on the map. The color changes are based on the type of building and its uses. 

The East Michigan houses that’s zoned as industrial, which would change to its regional corridor, 

and the proposed uses would be for big box retailers, automotive, automobile oriented as gas 

stations, auto repair car dealerships, special land uses for day-to-day services like grocery stores, 

convenience stores, personal services;  Restaurants, cafes, bars, professionals, medical office, 

multiple family mixture and public institutions like schools, places of worship, police stations 

and community centers. 

Ms. Minock stated to the public that if there zoning has changed, their business or property 

would be called non-conforming, and they are permitted to continue the use and occupation of 

the building. She also mentioned that Ypsilanti Township is called a nonconforming A status, 

where a property owner who has a non-conforming use or non-conforming building and they 

wanted to expand it, they can present their case at the Township, for a public hearing and a site 

plan review process. The expansion can happen once all the conditions are met. The section 

maps of the township are available to the public for a magnified view of individual lots. 

Ms. Minock presented the zoning text changes with regards to the Articles 19. The purpose of 

the Article is to implement the master plan and the things that do that are those form-based 



Page 4 of 6

corridors and agricultural overlays. It also makes a traditional subdivision with a special land use 

and an open space development. Residential development with open space option is the 

preferred option, and the opting for a traditional subdivision would require a special land use 

hearing with the Planning Commission. 

There are new sections on solar energy systems, geothermal, parking requiring bicycle and 

pedestrian accommodations due to the emphasis on sustainability and options for people in the 

Township, and also the landscape was updated for the allowance of public art. Ms. Minock also 

stated that there changes in the district titles. The Article 4, consolidates the intent, 

supplemental standards, and the stand-alone standards for each district. One of the mandates is 

when any updates are made to any local ordinances; the article would need to be updated per 

state and federal law. Tools were provided to ensure quality development in Ypsilanti Township 

and additional regulations for recreational vehicles, essential services, and utilities. The site plan 

has new sections and completion guarantees, certificate of occupant's development 

agreements. There are additional building design requirements in neighborhood business and 

general business districts and also the environmental article has been updated with 

performance standards. 

Ms. Minock concluded by encouraging the public to share their concerns, during the hearing. 

She also mentioned that Planning Commission would conduct the public hearing partnering with 

their consultants, and the public concern would help in directing in making any revisions in the 

zoning ordinance. By state law the Planning Commission have to recommend these changes in 

the zoning ordinance and map as presented in a changed form to the Township Board. 

PUBLIC HEARING OPENED AT 6:59 PM: 

 The Resident Thomas Cliché, residing at 7447 Stony Creek Rd, shared his concern that 

his property and surrounding properties have agricultural designations on top of their 

residential designation, and this has not been reflected on the zoning map. He 

requested the Planning Commission to get this corrected. 

 Mr. Prater, residing at 86 Wiard, requested the Planning Commission to re zone his 

property as C designation on the zoning map. 

 Bob and Paula Sawitski, residing at 7185 Stony Creek appreciated the Planning 

Commission for the support and with the new agricultural zoning designation to 

Ypsilanti Township. 

 April King, resident of 7875, Thorn hill in the Partridge Creek subdivision, representing 

AGC Automotive (1401 S Huron St), stated that a letter was sent to the Commission 

requesting them their operating activity should be considered as Type D instead of Type 

C. 

 Joe Pizzo, resident of 8811 Trillium Dr, Whispering Meadows enquired if a land that is 

proposed to be agricultural, and if it is approved by the township, can this revert back to 

residential or does it have to come back to the commission with the proposal. 

PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED AT 7:13PM 

Mr. Iacoangeli, explained to the public that Agricultural District is actually an overlay, that sits on 

top of the residential property. In the event, when someone want to develop that property, the 



Page 5 of 6

zoning underneath would govern how it would be developed. The agricultural overlay allows the 

owner to enjoy the benefits. Agricultural overlay, permits properties around the Township as 

being agricultural land use, and there are additional uses that would be allowed that wouldn't 

be permitted for residential uses. Another benefit is, it opens agricultural properties to be 

eligible for agricultural preservation programs at state and federal level. 

Ms. Minock explained on what the reasons, were to determine, areas to get the agricultural 

overlay designation on the proposed zoning map. They check the existing land use that was in 

the master plan, in consultation with the assessor, aerial photos and driving the township. She 

also cautions by mentioning that sometimes existing agricultural operations could have been 

missed, and the Planning Commission is open to these requests for any expansions, either 

through designations or research. 

Mr. Carlisle explained on how the form-based corridors work. He mentions that there are 3 

types of form-based districts (regional, neighborhood and Town Center). The regional is 

separated from the neighborhood corridors because the regional corridors are for larger 

intensity, with regards to existing uses, traffic width of the road and the size of the parcels are 

much larger. The neighborhood has smaller scaled corridors with smaller lots, narrow roads, less 

intense development with single family adjacent to them. Each individual corridor in individual 

parcel on the corridor has assigned with a designation ABCD. The designation depends on some 

general standards of lot size, location, etc. It's within the purview of the Planning Commission to 

reclassify the designations based on requests. 

Ms. Minock, stated that all the concerns and recommendations would be taken including the 

correspondence that’s been received, and it would be presented to the Planning Commission at 

the next meeting. The Planning Commission would then present these recommendations with 

conditions to the Township Board for consideration. 

Mr. Sinkule recommended that the Commissioners could agree, to take into consideration 

everything that was shared, along with correspondence to be presented at the next board 

meeting. 

V. NEW BUSINESS 

              None to report 

VI. OPEN DISCUSSION FOR ISSUES NOT ON THE AGENDA 

Mr. Kreig, expressed his opinion and concerns with Section 1205, relating to parking regulations. 

He recommends a revision of that’s been proposed. He suggests that parking space 

requirements is to be decided by the business itself. He also expresses, that in order to 

encourage people to come into the township and develop, curbing down the imposed 

restrictions would help in the economic development of the township. 

VII. TOWNSHIP BOARD REPRESENTATIVE REPORT 

               None to report



Page 6 of 6

VIII.  ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS REPRESENTATIVE REPORT 

               None to report

IX. TOWNSHIP ATTORNEY REPORT 

               None to report

X. PLANNING DEPARTMENT REPORT 

Mr.  Iacoangeli stated that they would consider all the comments and sort out the 

recommendations, with a new draft of the ordinance with the map changes. This would be 

presented to the Planning Commission for a review during the December meeting. 

XI. OTHER BUSINESS 

               None to report

XII. ADJOURNMENT 

MOTION: Ms. Peterson MOVED to adjourn at 7:39pm. The MOTION was SECONDED by Ms. El-

Assadi and PASSED by unanimous consent. 

Respectfully submitted by Minutes Services 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
OFFICE OF COMMUNITY STANDARDS 
Building Safety  Planning & Zoning  Ordinance Enforcement 

Staff Report 
Range USA 

660 James L. Hart Parkway 
Preliminary Site Plan Review 

December 16, 2020 

CASE LOCATION AND SUMMARY

The Planning Department is in receipt of a preliminary site plan application from Kimley 
Horn for Range USA.  The applicant is seeking approval to construct a 15,000 square 
foot building indoor gun range with 20 shooting lanes and teaching classrooms.  This 
property is zoned Planned Development the underlying zoning for the project is B-3 
General Business.  

APPLICANT

Kimley Horn 
4201 Winfield Road, Suite 600 
Warrenville, IL 60555 

CROSS REFERENCES

Zoning Ordinance citations: 
 Article XI, Section 1100, B-3 General Business District 
 Article XXI, Section 2115, Site Plan Review
 Article XXI, Section 2119, Special Land Uses

ANALYSIS

The plan has been reviewed by Township staff and consultants in accordance with our 
procedures. 

Planning Consultants (Carlisle/Wortman Associates): CWA reviewed the preliminary 
site plan and in their letter dated December 2, 2021 and recommended that the applicant
address the following items: 

1. Landscape plan needs to be sealed by a licensed landscape architect. 



Range USA – 660 James L. Hart Parkway 
December 16, 2021 

2 | P a g e

Engineering Consultants (OHM): The Township Engineer recommended approval for 
this stage of the process in their December 21, 2021 review letter. OHM has provided 
preliminary detailed engineering comments that will be addressed at the time of Final Site 
Plan and Detailed Engineering. 

Ypsilanti Community Utilities Authority: YCUA reviewing agent Scott Westover had 
additional comments in his letter dated December 16, 2021. The comments deal with the 
length and the diameter of pipe required for the water main for the project.  The comments 
will need to be addressed at the time of Final Site Plan and Detailed Engineering.  

Ypsilanti Township Fire Department: YTFD reviewing agent Dan Kimball requested 
additional information on the Building Construction Type in order to identify the number 
of required fire hydrants.   

Washtenaw County Water Resources Commission: WCWRC reviewing agent 
Theresa Marsik as notified the Township that the applicant has held a pre-application 
meeting with the developer on December 8, 2021.  

Washtenaw County Road Commission: The applicant has submitted plans to the 
Washtenaw County Road Commission for approval for the existing driveway location to 
be utilized for the new business.  As of January 5th the Road Commission still had the 
project under review. 



Range USA – 660 James L. Hart Parkway 
December 16, 2021 

3 | P a g e

Suggested motions:  The following suggested motions and conditions are provided to 
assist the Planning Commission in making the most appropriate motion for this 
application.  The Commission may utilize, add or reject any conditions suggested herein, 
as they deem appropriate. 

Preliminary Site Plan Approval  

Motion to table:  

“I move to table the request for Preliminary Site Plan approval for Range USA for 15,000 
square foot indoor shooting range to consider the comments presented during the public 
hearing portion of meeting. 

Motion to approve:  

“I move to approve the request for a Preliminary Site Plan for Range USA to be located 
at 660 James L. Hart Parkway, parcel K-11-17-361-021 with the following conditions: 

1. Applicant shall address remaining review comments from consultants, agencies, 
and departments. 

2. Interior and exterior camera systems shall be held for 45 days and be made 
available to law enforcement on request. 

3. The development is to include a minimum of two (2) EV parking spaces as a part 
of the overall off-street parking arrangement. 

4. Range USA will agree to use eco-friendly landscaping and landscaping products 
for the development. 

5. Applicant shall obtain all applicable outside agency permits. 

Motion to deny:  

“I move to deny the request for Preliminary Site Plan approval for Range USA to be 
located at 660 James L. Hart Parkway, parcel K-11-17-361-021, due to the following 
reasons: 

1. ________________________________________________________________ 

2. ________________________________________________________________” 



Range USA – 660 James L. Hart Parkway 
December 16, 2021 

4 | P a g e

Recommendation to the Ypsilanti Township Board of Trustees for 
Planned Development (PD) Stage I Approval 

Motion to table:  

“I move to table the recommendation to the Ypsilanti Township Board of Trustees for 
Preliminary Site Plan and PD Stage I approval for Range USA to be located at 660 
James L. Hart Parkway, parcel K-11-17-361-021, to consider the comments presented 
by the Public and the Planning Commission during discussion of the project” 

Motion to approve:  

“I move to recommend approval of  Preliminary Site Plan and PD Stage I  to the Ypsilanti 
Township Board of Trustees for Range USA an indoor gun range to be located at 660 
James L. Hart Parkway, parcel K-11-17-361-021 with the following conditions: 

1. Applicant shall address remaining review comments from consultants, agencies, 
and departments. 

2. Interior and exterior camera systems shall be held for 45 days and be made 
available to law enforcement on request. 

3. The development is to include a minimum of two (2) EV parking spaces as a part 
of the overall off-street parking arrangement. 

4. Range USA will agree to use eco-friendly landscaping and landscaping products 
for the development. 

5. Applicant shall obtain all applicable outside agency permits. 

Motion to deny:  

“I move to deny the recommendation to the Ypsilanti Township Board of Trustees for 
Preliminary Site Plan and PD Stage I approval for Range USA an indoor gun range to 
be located at 660 James L. Hart Parkway, parcel K-11-17-361-021, due to the following 
reasons: 

 1._________________________________________________________________ 

 2._________________________________________________________________” 



Range USA – 660 James L. Hart Parkway 
December 16, 2021 

5 | P a g e

Respectfully submitted, 

Jason Iacoangeli 
Jason Iacoangeli, AICP 
Planning Director 



Project Name:  
 
Location: 
 
Date: 

Planning Director’s Report 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Full Preliminary Site Plan Review #  Rezoning 
 Sketch Preliminary Site Plan Review #  Tentative Preliminary Plat 
 Administrative Preliminary Site Plan Review #  Final Preliminary Plat 
 Detailed Engineering/Final Site Plan Review #  Final Plat Process 
 Special Use Permit  Planned Development Stage I 
 Public Hearing  Planned Development Stage II 

 

Contact / Reviewer Consultants, Departments, 
& Agencies Approved 

Approved 
with 

Conditions 
Denied N/A 

See email/letter 
attached or comments 

below 
Jason Iacoangeli, 
Planning Director 

Township Planning 
Department      

Carlisle/Wortman 
Associates Planning Consultant      

OHM / Stantec Engineering Consultant      
Dan Kimball, Fire 
Marshal 

Township Fire 
Department      

Dave Bellers, 
Building Official 

Township Building 
Department      

Brian McCleery, 
Deputy Assessor 

Township Assessing 
Department      

Scott Westover, 
Engineering Manager 

Ypsilanti Community 
Utilities Authority      

Gary Streight, Project 
Manager 

Washtenaw County Road 
Commission       

Theresa Marsik, 
Stormwater Engineer 

Washtenaw County Water 
Resources Commission      

James Drury, Permit 
Agent 

Michigan Department of 
Transportation       

       

 
Planning Director’s Recommended Action:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

See Planning Department Comments Below

See Carlisle Wortman letter dated 12.02.21

See OHM letter dated 12.21.21

See YTFD letter dated 12.16.21

See YCUA letter dated12.16.2022

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

660 James L. Hart Parkway K-11-17-361-021

Range USA

01.04.2022

At this time the Planning Department would recommend Preliminary Site Plan approval based on the attached reviews. The
applicant has some YCUA utility comments that need to be addressed at the time of Final Site Plan that deal with the length
and diameter of pipe for water service. Further, the applicant will need to provide the Fire Department with the Building
Type so that the number of required Fire Hydrants can be identified. At this time both Carlisle Wortman and OHM
Engineering are satisfied that all of the Preliminary Site Plan items have been addressed in order for this project to be
considered by the Planning Commission. This project has been placed on the January 11th Planning Commission Agenda
for the required Public Hearing and Preliminary Site Plan consideration.

2



Date:  November 9, 2021
December 2, 2021

Site Plan Review
For

Ypsilanti Township, Michigan

Applicant: Development Management Group, LLC

Project Name: Shoot Point Blank

Plan Date: November 29, 2021

Location: 660 James L Hall Parkway, Ypsilanti Twp

Zoning: PD, Planned Development  

Action Requested: Preliminary Site Plan Review.

Required Information: As noted in this report. 

PROJECT AND SITE DESCRIPTION
 
The applicant is proposing to construct a 15,000 square-foot building that includes gun sales, 20-
lane shooting range, and teaching classrooms at 660 James L Hart Parkway.  The use includes
108 parking spaces.  The site is the vacant parking lot that was acquired by Bank Supplies. The
total site is 2.76 acres.  The site is controlled by the Burning Bush Planned Development, but
must comply with the underlying B-3 General Business District regulations.  

Indoor recreation facility is a permitted use in the underlying B-3 General Business District.  An
aerial photo of the subject site and surrounding area is shown in Figure 1. 

Figure 1.
Subject Site



Pointe Shoot Blank
December 2, 2021

Size of Subject Property:
The parcel is 2.76 acres

Proposed Uses of Subject Parcel:
Gun Sales and Range

Current Use of Subject Property:
The subject property is currently vacant  

Current Zoning:
The property is currently zoned R-1C, One-family Residential District. 

Surrounding Property Details:

Direction Zoning Use
North NA Interstate 75
South I-1, Light Industrial Light Industrial/ Warehouse
East I-1, Light Industrial Vacant 
West PD, Planned Development Bank Supplies  

AREA, WIDTH, HEIGHT, SETBACKS

The dimensional requirements of the B-3, General Business District in noted in the table: 

Required Provided Compliance
Lot Area None 2.7 acres YES
Lot Width None Not provided YES
Building Setbacks

Front 20 feet +20 feet YES
Side 0 feet required Over 0 feet YES
Rear 20 feet +20 feet YES

2

Site
9.42 Acres (Gross)



Pointe Shoot Blank
December 2, 2021

Maximum Building Height 25 feet 23’-7” YES

The building complies with all B-3, General Business District zoning requirements. 

Items to be Addressed:  None

NATURAL RESOURCES

The site has been cleared and graded for a parking lot.  No natural features exist on the site.  

Items to be Addressed:  None

BUILDING LOCATION AND SITE ARRANGEMENT

The proposed development is located within an existing vacant parking lot.  For the most part
the site arrangement remains as is, with the building placed towards the rear of the site with a
full access drive around the building.  The front part of the existing vacant parking lot will remain
as is but the paving will be improved as necessary.  The building location and site arrangement is
logical based on existing site conditions.   

Items to be Addressed:  None

SITE ACCESS AND CIRCULATION

The site will be accessed via one (1) access on James L Parkway and one (1) shared access to the
south (Bank Supplies) parcel.  A fire truck turning template was submitted on Sheet C.3.1.  The
turning template should be reviewed by the Fire Marshall.   

Items to be Addressed:  None

PARKING, LOADING

Parking

Indoor Gun Range,  classroom, and retail  sales  require  the  following  parking  as  set  forth in
Section 2104: 

Required Provided

Indoor  Commercial  Recreation:
Two  for  each  batting  cage,
archery range or similar activity.

20 lanes = 40 spaces 107 spaces

Classroom use:  One for each 250
square feet of usable floor space.

785 sq.ft / 250 = 3 spaces 

3



Pointe Shoot Blank
December 2, 2021

Retail  Sales:  One  for  each  250
square feet of usable floor space

3,085 sq.ft / 250 = 13 spaces

Barrier Free 5 5
Loading 1 0
Total 55 spaces 107 spaces

Though the parking exceeds the maximum, the site is an existing parking lot.   The applicant is
proposing to repurpose an existing parking lot into a functional use. 

Loading 

A loading  space  is  not  provided on the  plans.   The  applicant  notes  that  a  “loading  will  be
conducted outside of normal business hours, thus a designated loading zone is not proposed at
this time.”

Items to be Addressed: Planning Commission to consider loading space waiver. 

LANDSCAPING

A landscape plan has been provided as part of the site plan submittal.  The landscape plan was
not sealed by a registered landscape architect.  The applicant notes that the landscape plan will
be sealed as condition of final site plan. 

Required: Provided: Compliance:

General Site Landscaping:  All areas of a
site shall remain in lawn area. A mixture
of  evergreen  and  deciduous  trees  shall
be planted at the rate of one (1) tree for
each  1,000  square  feet  or  fraction
thereof of lawn area, plus One (1) shrub
for  every  500  square  feet  or  fraction
thereof of lawn area.  

17 evergreen or 
deciduous trees

And 

33 shrubs 

3 evergreen and 14 
deciduous

And 

33 shrubs 

Complies 

Street Yard Landscaping: A minimum of
one large deciduous tree shall be planted
for each 40 lineal feet of frontage, PLUS
one ornamental tree shall be planted for
each  100  lineal  feet  of  frontage,  PLUS
one shrub shall  be planted for each ten
lineal feet of frontage. 

4 deciduous

And 

2 ornamental

And 

17 shrubs 

4 deciduous

And 

2 ornamental

And 

17 shrubs

Complies 

4



Pointe Shoot Blank
December 2, 2021

Parking  Lot  Trees:  1  tree  every  3,000
square feet. 

7 trees 7 trees Complies 

Items to be Addressed:   Seal Landscape Plan by a licensed landscape architect for final site plan

LIGHTING

The applicant has submitted a photometric plan and lighting fixtures.   The applicant is proposing
fifteen (15) pole lights and sixteen (16) building lights.    Pole height complies with ordinance
requirements. The lighting requirements of Section 2110 have been met. 

Items to be Addressed: None

FLOOR PLAN AND ELEVATIONS

The applicant has provided floor plans and elevations.   Primary material is masonry brick in
brown and beige color.  Exterior material requirements have been met as set for forth in Sec
2125.  

The mechanical equipment in the rear is enclosed in a solid wood fence to provide screening. 

Items to be Addressed:  None

SEC 1840-INDOOR RECREATIONAL FACILITY

a) All recreational activities shall be conducted within an enclosed building.

All uses are within the enclosed building. 

b) Structures shall be set back 100 feet from any abutting residential district, except the 
planning commission may reduce the setback to 50 feet where the adjacent 
residentially zoned property is a public park or recreation area.

The site is not within 100-feet of any residential district. 

c) The off-street parking, passenger loading/unloading and general size layout and its 
relationship to the surrounding land uses and roads shall be reviewed by the 
planning commission, who may impose reasonable restrictions or requirements to 
insure contiguous residential areas will be adequately protected.

Parking, loading, and layout seem reasonable based on the use and existing conditions.
As part of their review, the Planning Commission may place reasonable restrictions or 
requirements.  

5



Pointe Shoot Blank
December 2, 2021

d) A parking study shall be prepared to determine the required number of parking 
spaces. The study shall indicate to the maximum capacity of the facility, the 
maximum number of participants that can be involved in the events, with an overlap 
between two consecutive events, and the maximum number of spectators. Such 
study shall utilize parking generation estimates based upon the Institute of 
Transportation Engineers Parking Generation Manual and also a comparison of three 
similar facilities in the area.

Applicant should provide retail sales and classroom square footage to determine if 
parking is sufficient.  

e) The applicant shall provide documentation showing that the size of the site is 
adequate, using national facility standards.

The applicant is required to comply with all national facility standards for this use. 

f) Operational hours may be restricted by the planning commission in consideration of 
adjacent land uses and zoning. All outdoor activities, including floodlighting, public 
address systems, etc. must cease at 11:00 p.m.

There appears to be no outside impact such as floodlighting, public address system, or 
other outside activity that would impact adjacent properties.   

g) All buildings shall be permanent structures. Inflated domes are not permitted.

Primary  material  is  masonry  brick  in  brown  and  beige  color.   Exterior  material
requirements have been met as set for forth in Sec 2125.  

RECOMMENDATIONS

Planning Commission should discuss  loading space waiver.   Based upon that  discussion,  we
recommend preliminary site plan approval with the following condition to be submitted as part
of final site plan: 

1. Stamp Landscape Plan by licensed landscape architect 

6



 
 
 

 

December 21, 2021 
 
 
Mr. Jason Iacoangeli 
Township Planning Director 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
7200 S. Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI 48197 
 
 
RE: Shoot Point Blank 
 660 James L. Hart Parkway 
 Site Plan Review #2 
 
 
Dear Mr. Iacoangeli: 
 
We have completed the second site plan review of the plans dated November 29, 2021 and received by OHM Advisors 
on December 2, 2021.  
 
At this time, the plans are recommended for approval for the Planning Commission’s consideration.  
 
A brief description of the project has been provided below (Section A), followed by our comments (Section B and C) 
and a list of anticipated required permits and approvals (Section D). Comments in Section C are detailed in nature, do 
not influence the overall site layout, and can be addressed during the detailed engineering drawing submittal. 
 

A. PROJECT AND SITE DESCRIPTION 

The applicant is proposing a new 15,019 square foot building to use as a gun sales shop and shooting range at 
660 James L Hart Parkway. Roughly two-thirds of the parking lot is proposed for removal, with the majority of 
the lot being replaced in kind or as the new building footprint. The applicant will maintain two points of access 
on-site, located at the main entrance off of James L Hart, and a southwest connection to the western 
neighboring parcel. The existing northeast neighbor connection is proposed for removal. 
 
The applicant is proposing to loop and extend a 6-inch watermain from the neighboring west parcel and 
connect to the existing 8-inch main extension located at the north side of James L Hart. Sanitary service is 
proposed to connect into the existing 10-inch main running parallel along the north side of James L Hart. The 
existing storm system on the south side of the site and the detention basin are to remain along with some catch 
basins as part of the existing drainage district.  
 

B. SITE PLAN COMMENTS 

 
Paving and Grading 

 
1. The applicant shall note that it is recommended that the access drive to the west of the proposed building 

that is to be abandoned shall be removed to discourage improper use. The applicant noted in their November 
29, 2021, letter that offsite work to close/remove the abandoned access drive will be coordinated with the 
adjacent property owner. The comment has been sufficiently addressed.  
 



Mr. Iacoangeli – Shoot Point Blank – Site Plan Review #2 
December 21, 2021  
Page 2 of 4 

 

2. The applicant shall note that it is recommended that the access drive to the west of the proposed building 
that is to be abandoned shall be removed to discourage improper use. The comment has been sufficiently 
addressed. 

 
3. The applicant shall either propose 7-ft sidewalk to the south of the building abutting the parking spaces or 

propose parking blocks to prevent car overhang and pedestrian hinderance. The comment has been 
sufficiently addressed. 

 
Site Utilities 

4. The applicant shall note that the minimum water main size for distribution is 8 inches. There is a proposed 
6-in water main extension (approximately 300 feet in length) connecting to an existing fire hydrant to the 
west. The maximum allowable dead-end main lengths are 40 feet for 6-in fire hydrant lead and 600 feet for 
8-in main. The comment has been sufficiently addressed. 
 

5. The applicant shall show all applicable easements (ie. Water main, Sanitary, and Strom) on the property and 
on the adjacent property to the west. The comment has been sufficiently addressed. 

 
6. The applicant shall provide a 250-foot radius coverage from existing (or proposed) fire hydrants that encloses 

on all four corners of the proposed building. The comment has been sufficiently addressed. 
 
General 

7. The applicant shall verify removal items as it is currently unclear and shall revise accordingly. Curb, storm 
structures, and other items are called out as removed on the removal sheet but are not shown as removed in 
the proposed construction site plan. The comment has been sufficiently addressed. 

 
8. The applicant shall provide a separate turning template sheet for emergency vehicles and garbage trucks 

accessing the site to ensure full site circulation can be achieved. The comment has been sufficiently 
addressed. 
 

9. The applicant shall note that MissDig is the point of contact for underground utility location. Note number 
six (6) in the Utility Notes box on sheet C6.0 states “Julie” (1-800-892-0123) as the point of contact for 
locating underground utilities. The comment has been sufficiently addressed. 

 
 

C. PRELIMINARY DETAILED ENGINEERING PLAN COMMENTS  

The following comments shall be addressed by the applicant during the detailed engineering drawing submittal, 
and do not affect the recommendation for approval to the Township of Ypsilanti Planning Commission. It 
should be noted that this is not an all-inclusive list and additional comments may be generated as new information 
is presented. 

 
1. The applicant shall provide a minimum of two (2) NAVD88 benchmarks. Repeat comment; the applicant 

has one (1) benchmark. 
 

2. The applicant shall verify the provided legal description is consistent on all applicable sheets. The applicant 
shall verify that the provided legal description matches the bearings provided on the plan view and that the 
correct legal description closes. 

 
3. The applicant shall provide profiles for all utilities (water, sanitary, and storm sewer) on the plans. These 

profiles shall include diameters, materials, lengths, slopes, and services. In addition, the hydraulic grade lines 
shall be clearly indicated on all storm sewer profiles.  

 



Mr. Iacoangeli – Shoot Point Blank – Site Plan Review #2 
December 21, 2021  
Page 3 of 4 

 

4. The applicant shall provide a utility crossing table with the engineering submittal to ensure proper clearance 
between existing and proposed utilities.  

 
5. The applicant shall review the proposed joints/appurtenances at the water main junction in the middle of 

the south parking lot as it is currently unclear what is proposed. Additionally, all gate valves shall be properly 
delineated. 

 
6. The applicant shall verify how storm water will be managed around the building (i.e. roof drains). 

 
7. The applicant shall provide the dimensions of the barrier free space and spot elevations at all four corners 

of proposed barrier-free parking space, access aisle, ramps, and level landings, as well as at 50-foot intervals 
along all sidewalks to ensure ADA compliance. The applicant shall note that the cross slope shall not exceed 
2%. 

 
8. The applicant shall include all pavement, sidewalk, and curb and gutter details within the plan set. 

 
9. The applicant shall provide an engineer’s estimate of probable cost for the project with the final detailed 

engineering submittal. 
 

 
D. REQUIRED PERMITS & APPROVALS 

 
The following outside agency reviews and permits will be required for the project. Copies of any 
correspondence between the applicant and the review agencies, as well as the permit or waiver, shall be sent to 
both the Township and OHM Advisors (email: elliot.smith@ohm-advisors.com).  
 
 Ypsilanti Community Utilities Authority (YCUA): Will require review and approval for the proposed 

water main, water connection, and sanitary connection. 
 Ypsilanti Township Fire Department: Review and approval is required. 
 Washtenaw County Water Resources Commissioner’s Office (WCWRC): Review and approval will be 

required. 
 Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes & Energy (EGLE): An EGLE Act 399 permit 

will be required for construction of all water main system improvements. 
 Ypsilanti Township Office of Community Standards: A Soil Erosion and Sedimentation Control permit 

shall be secured from the Ypsilanti Township Office of Community Standards.  
 The Township’s Planner will inspect the landscaping for this site.  
 If dewatering should be needed, the contractor/applicant shall be responsible for obtaining necessary 

approvals from the Township and the Township Engineer, permission from all impacted adjacent properties 
and/or permits from MDOT, WCWRC’s Office, or the WCRC. 

 Record plans shall be provided to the Township Engineer following the completion of construction.  
 
 
Should you have any questions regarding this matter, please contact this office at (734) 466-4580. 
 
Sincerely, 
OHM Advisors 
 
 
_____________________________       
Matthew D. Parks, P.E.     Elliot R. Smith, P.E. 
 
MDP/ERS/seb 



Mr. Iacoangeli – Shoot Point Blank – Site Plan Review #2 
December 21, 2021  
Page 4 of 4 

 

 
cc: Amy Steffens, Township Planning and Development Coordinator 
 Fletcher Reyher, Township Staff Planner 

Kristi Troy, Township Community Standards Executive Coordinator 
Doug Winters, Township Attorney 
Dan Kimball, Township Fire Marshall 
File   

 
P:\0000_0100\SITE_YpsilantiTwp\2021\0098211130_660 James Hart_Shoot Point Blank\MUNI\01_SITE\Review #2\Shoot Point 
Blank_SP2.docx  

 
 
  



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI FIRE DEPARTMENT 
BUREAU OF FIRE PREVENTION 
 

222 South Ford Boulevard, Ypsilanti, MI 48198 
 

 

  

December 16, 2021 
 
Jason Iacoangeli, Planning Director 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
7200 S. Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI 48197 
 
  
 
RE:  Preliminary (non-residential) Site Plan Review #2 
 Project Name:    Shoot Point Blank 
 Project Location:    660 James L. Hart Parkway  
 Plan Date:     10/19/2021  
 Project Number:  168921002 
 Applicable Codes:  IFC 2018 
 Engineer:   Kimley – Horn and Associates, Inc. 
 Engineer Address:  4201 Winfield Rd., Suite 600 Warrenville, Ill 60555 
  
 

Status of Review 

Status of review: Denied (see comments) 

Pages C 0.0 – L 2.0 were reviewed. 

Site Coverage - Hydrants 

Comments:  

All four corners of proposed building must be within 250 feet of a hydrant, depending on 
construction type more than one hydrant will be needed.  

If the building is IIA or IIIA building type one additional hydrant is needed. 

If the building is IIB or IIIB building type three hydrants are need. 

Please provide construction building type. 

 
 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
Dan Kimball, Fire Marshal 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti Fire Department 
CFPS, CFI II, CFPE 



December 16, 2021 
 

VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL 
 
Mr. Jason Iacoangeli, Planning Director 
Office of Community Standards 
CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
7200 S. Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI   48197 
 
 Re: Preliminary (non-residential) Site Plan Review #2 
  Shoot Point Blank 
  Charter Township of Ypsilanti  (Plan Date: 11-29-2021) 
 
Dear Mr. Iacoangeli: 
 
 In response to your electronic mail message dated December 2, 2021, we have reviewed 
the referenced plans with regards to water supply and wastewater system design. The plans are not 
acceptable to the Authority. 
 

1. The minimum size pipe allowed for use in the water distribution system is 8” diameter. 
2. Water main pipe material shall be ductile iron. 
3. The maximum allowable length for 6” diameter fire hydrant service pipe is 40’. 
4. An easement will need to be obtained from the adjacent property owner for any offsite 

water main located outside of existing right-of-way or easements. 
5. Fire hydrants shall be located per the requirements of the Ypsilanti Township Fire 

Department and the current version of the International Fire Code. It is anticipated that 
the proposed water main alignment and hydrant locations will not be sufficient. 

 
As noted in the November 8, 2021, letter from this office, connection fees apply to the 

proposed building. Please note that the total cash price for connection fees, $19,006.01 plus the 
construction phase escrow deposit, Authority administration fee, and record plan guarantee, 
must be paid to the Authority by the Applicant, with a receipt delivered to the Township, before 
either the building or soil and grading permit is issued. The construction phase escrow deposit and 
associated fees and deposits and the entity responsible for maintaining those accounts will be 
determined during the Detailed Engineering phase of the project in conjunction with your office 
and the Township Engineer. Should there be any questions please contact this office. 
 

Sincerely, 
 

              
SCOTT D. WESTOVER, P.E., Engineering Manager 

Ypsilanti Community Utilities Authority 



 
 
Mr. Jason Iacoangeli 
CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
December 16, 2021 
Page 2 
 
 
 
 
Enclosure as noted 
 
cc: Mr. Jeff Castro, Mr. Luke Blackburn, Mr. Mike Shaffer, File, YCUA 
 Ms. Belinda Kingsley, Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
 Mr. Eric Copeland, Mr. Dan Kimball, Township Fire Department 
 Mr. Matt Parks, P.E., Mr. Elliot Smith, Township Engineer 
 Mr. Brad Copp, Applicant 
 Mr. Joe Mayer, Applicant’s design engineer 
 
G:\CDproj\YpsiTwp\2021 - Shoot Point Blank\PNRSP Rev#2.docx 



















































CLASSROOM

A

116

CLASSROOM

B

117

CORRIDOR

115

IT

120

JAN

112

MEN

111

OFFICE

118

RECEIVING

106

RETAIL

AREA

102

SHOOTING

RANGE A

107

SHOOTING

RANGE B

108

STAFF

BREAK

113

STOR

101

STOR

114A

STOR

119

STOR

121

STORAGE

109

VESTIBULE

100

VESTIBULE

104

VESTIBULE

105

VIEWING

AREA

103

WOMEN

110

F
IR

IN
G

 L
IN

E
F
IR

IN
G

 L
IN

E

T
A
R

G
E
T
 L

IN
E

T
A
R

G
E
T
 L

IN
E

RANGE VENTILATION 

SYSTEM ENCLOSURE

THIS DRAWING AND THE DESIGN
SHOWN ARE THE PROPERTY OF

ESD. THE REPRODUCTION, OR USE
OF THIS DRAWING WITHOUT THEIR
WRITTEN CONSENT IS PROHIBITED,
ANY INFRINGEMENT IS SUBJECT TO

LEGAL ACTION.

Office: 704-373-1900www.esd@esdarch.com

600 Emerson Street, Suite 210, Creve Coeur, MO 63141 PROJ # 21-161

660 JAMES L HART PARKWAY
YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP, MI

11/12/2021

SCALE:  1/16" = 1'-0"1
FLOOR PLAN-PRES



7A 7A7A

7B 7C 8

9

18

56 1014

7D

15 7C 11 1 3 4

56

12

23' - 7"

21' - 7"

10' - 0"

23' - 4"
22 15

7D

1923

8' - 0"

7A7A 7A

7B7C8

9

18

23

5 610 14

7D

157C134

5 6

12

2215

7D

20 21 23

8' - 0"

THIS DRAWING AND THE DESIGN
SHOWN ARE THE PROPERTY OF

ESD. THE REPRODUCTION, OR USE
OF THIS DRAWING WITHOUT THEIR
WRITTEN CONSENT IS PROHIBITED,
ANY INFRINGEMENT IS SUBJECT TO

LEGAL ACTION.

Office: 704-373-1900www.esd@esdarch.com

600 Emerson Street, Suite 210, Creve Coeur, MO 63141 PROJ # 21-161

660 JAMES L HART PARKWAY
YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP, MI

11/12/2021

SCALE:  3/32" = 1'-0"1
EAST ELEVATION-PRES

SCALE:  3/32" = 1'-0"2
WEST ELEVATION-PRES



7A7A

7B 7C 8 9

18

23

14

15

7C16

7B 8

5 6

27

2215

14

16 22

17

22

7B

17

17

8' - 0"

1 1

114

8

9

3

5 614

15

4 16

38

56

22 15

14

16 22

3

11

1

2

4

11 514 6 212

21' - 4"

18' - 8"

3' - 4"

23' - 4"

12' - 8"

THIS DRAWING AND THE DESIGN
SHOWN ARE THE PROPERTY OF

ESD. THE REPRODUCTION, OR USE
OF THIS DRAWING WITHOUT THEIR
WRITTEN CONSENT IS PROHIBITED,
ANY INFRINGEMENT IS SUBJECT TO

LEGAL ACTION.

Office: 704-373-1900www.esd@esdarch.com

600 Emerson Street, Suite 210, Creve Coeur, MO 63141 PROJ # 21-161

660 JAMES L HART PARKWAY
YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP, MI

11/12/2021

SCALE:  3/32" = 1'-0"1
NORTH ELEVATION-PRES

SCALE:  3/32" = 1'-0"2
SOUTH ELEVATION-PRES



8 PRE-FINISHED ALUMINUM COPING - COLOR TO MATCH PT-4

9 NOT USED

21 OVERFLOW ROOF DRAIN OUTLET ZURN Z199 DOWNSPOUT NOZZLE

22 MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT.

23 8' HIGH VINYL FENCE AROUND RANGE EQUIPMENT, SEE OTHER DRAWINGS

1 LOAD BEARING CONCRETE BRICK MASONRY (8"X4"X16") - CBM-1, INTEGRAL COLOR

(WHITE)

2 LOAD BEARING CONCRETE BRICK MASONRY (8"X4"X16") - CBM-2, INTEGRAL COLOR

(GRAY)

3 LOAD BEARING CONCRETE BRICK MASONRY (8"X4"X16") - CBM-3, INTEGRAL COLOR

(LIGHT BROWN)

5 LOAD BEARING SPLIT-FACE CONCRETE BLOCK (8"X12"X16") - CMU-1, INTEGRAL COLOR

(GRAY)

6 LOAD BEARING SMOOTH-FACE CONCRETE SILL BLOCK (8"X12"X16") - CMU-2, INTEGRAL

COLOR (GRAY)

10 METAL DOOR PAINTED PT-4

11 PRE-FINISHED ALUMINUM STOREFRONT SYSTEM (AL-1), SEE GLAZING SCHEDULE FOR

GLASS TYPES

12 PRE-MANUFACTURED, PRE-FINISHED METAL CANOPY, COLOR TO BE MATCH PT-4

14 6" DIAMETER STEEL PIPE BOLLARD SET IN CONCRETE AND FILLED SOLID WITH CONCRETE

(PAINTED PT-4) SEE CIVIL DRAWINGS FOR LOCATIONS AND DETAILS

15 EXTERIOR WALL-MOUNTED LIGHT FIXTURE - SEE ELECT.

16 APPROXIMATE LOCATION OF OWNER PROVIDED SIGNAGE

17 MASONRY OPENING FOR RANGE VENTILATION SYSTEM

18 RANGE VENTILATION SYSTEM

19 RECESSED KNOX BOX, VERIFY TYPE AND LOCATION WITH LOCAL FIRE MARSHAL BEFORE

ORDERING AND INSTALLING

20 FDC, VERIFY TYPE AND LOCATION WITH LOCAL FIRE MARSHAL BEFORE ORDERING AND

INSTALLING

7A LOAD BEARING SMOOTH-FACE CONCRETE BLOCK (8"X8"X16") - CMU-3, PAINTED TO

MATCH CBM-1

4 LOAD BEARING CONCRETE BRICK MASONRY W/ VERTICAL "SOLDIER COURSE" REVEALS @

4"OC (8"X8"X16") - CBM-4, INTEGRAL COLOR - (DARK BROWN)

7B LOAD BEARING SMOOTH-FACE CONCRETE BLOCK (8"X8"X16") - CMU-3, PAINTED TO

MATCH CBM-3

7C LOAD BEARING SMOOTH-FACE CONCRETE BLOCK (8"X8"X16") - CMU-3, PAINTED TO

MATCH CBM-4

7D LOAD BEARING SMOOTH-FACE CONCRETE BLOCK (8"X8"X16") - CMU-3, PAINTED TO

MATCH CBM-2

EXTERIOR ELEVATION KEYNOTES

27 ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT

CBM-1   

LOAD BEARING CONCRETE BRICK MASONRY 

(8"X4"X16"), INTEGRAL COLOR

CBM-2  

LOAD BEARING CONCRETE BRICK MASONRY 

(8"X4"X16"), INTEGRAL COLOR

CBM-3  

LOAD BEARING CONCRETE BRICK MASONRY 

(8"X4"X16"), INTEGRAL COLOR

CBM-4

LOAD BEARING CONCRETE BRICK MASONRY W/ 

VERTICAL "SOLDIER COURSE" REVEALS @ 4"OC 

(8"X8"X16") - CBM-3, INTEGRAL COLOR

CMU-1    

STANDARD SPLIT FACE 8" X 12" X 16" LOAD 

BEARING CONCRETE BLOCK, INTEGRAL COLOR

CMU-2

SMOOTH-FACE 8" X 12" X 16" LOAD BEARING 

CONCRETE SILL BLOCK, INTEGRAL COLOR

CMU-3 

STANDARD C-90 SMOOTH-FACE 8" X 8" X 16" 

LOAD BEARING CONCRETE BLOCK, PAINTED

AL-1 (ALL STOREFRONT FRAMES)

BLACK ANODIZED ALUMINUM

PT-4 - SW CYBERSPACE (DARK GRAY/BLACK)

EXTERIOR MATERIALS:

THIS DRAWING AND THE DESIGN
SHOWN ARE THE PROPERTY OF

ESD. THE REPRODUCTION, OR USE
OF THIS DRAWING WITHOUT THEIR
WRITTEN CONSENT IS PROHIBITED,
ANY INFRINGEMENT IS SUBJECT TO

LEGAL ACTION.

Office: 704-373-1900www.esd@esdarch.com

600 Emerson Street, Suite 210, Creve Coeur, MO 63141 PROJ # 21-161

660 JAMES L HART PARKWAY
YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP, MI

11/12/2021



DIMENSIONS

Made in the U.S.A. of the U.S. and imported parts.  
Meets Buy American requirements for ARRA.

1919 Windsor Place
Fort Worth, TX 76110
800.633.8711

www.wlslighting.com

Project Name:
Date:
Location:

Notes:

Specifications subject to change without notice.

Type:

29 REV. 07/20

WP Series  LED SECURITY WALL PACK

SPECIFICATIONS
DESCRIPTION
A revolutionary way to generate high-quality white light, WLS TrueWhite® Technology is a patented approach that delivers 
an exclusive combination of 90+ CRI, beautiful light characteristics and lifelong color consistency, all while maintaining high 
luminous efficacy – a true no compromise solution.

CONSTRUCTION & MATERIALS
• Slim, low profile design
• Luminaire housing specifically designed for LED applications with advanced LED thermal management and driver
• Luminaire mounting box designed for installation over standard single gang J-Boxes and mud ring single gang J-Boxes
• Luminaire can also be direct mounted to a wall and surface wired
• Secures to wall with four 3/16" (5mm) screws (by others)
• Conduit entry from top, bottom, sides, and rear
• Exclusive Colorfast DeltaGuard® finish features an E-coat epoxy primer with an ultra-durable powder topcoat, providing 

excellent resistance to corrosion, ultraviolet degradation and abrasion. Silver, black, white and bronze are available
• Weight: 2L, 4L, 6L - 11.0 lbs. (5.0kg); 8L - 11.8 lbs. (5.4kg)

ELECTRICAL SYSTEM
• Input Voltage: 120-277V or 347-480V, 50/60Hz
• Power Factor: > 0.9 at full load
• Total Harmonic Distortion: < 20% at full load
• Integral 10kV surge suppression protection standard
• When code dictates fusing, a slow blow fuse or type C/D breaker should be used to address inrush current
• Designed with 0-10V dimming capabilities. Controls by others
• 10V Source Current: 0.15 mA
• Operating Temperature Range: -40˚C - +50˚C (-40˚F - +122˚F)

REGULATORY & VOLUNTARY QUALIFICATIONS
• cULus Listed
• Suitable for wet locations
• Designed for downlight applications only
• Enclosure rated IP66 per IEC 60598
• 10kV surge suppression protection tested in accordance with IEEE/ANSI C62.41.2
• Meets FCC Part 15, Subpart B, Class A standards for conducted and radiated emissions
• Luminaire and finish endurance tested to withstand 5,000 hours of elevated ambient salt fog conditions as defined in ASTM 

Standard B 117
• Meets Buy American requirements within ARRA
• RoHS compliant. Consult factory for additional details
• Dark Sky Friendly, IDA Approved when ordered with 30K CCT
• "WARNING: Cancer and Reproductive Harm - www.p65warnings.ca.gov"

Lumen Package Weight

2L, 3L, 6L 11.0 lbs. (5.0kg)

8L 11.8 lbs. (5.4kg)



ORDERING INFORMATION   SELECT APPROPRIATE CHOICE FROM EACH COLUMN TO FORMULATE  ORDER CODE.  
Refer to example below.

PRODUCT VERSION MOUNTING OPTIC LUMEN PACKAGE1 COLOR TEMPERATURE VOLTAGE COLOR OPTIONS OPTIONS

WP B WM  Wall 2ME  Type II Medium
3ME  Type III Medium
4ME  Type IV Medium

2L  2,490 lumens
4L  4,270 lumens
6L  6,100 lumens
8L  8,475 lumens

30K  3000K - 70 CRI
40K  4000K - 70 CRI
50K  5000K - 90 CRI
57K  5700K - 70 CRI

UL  Universal 120-277V
UH  Universal 347-480V
34  347V 2,3

BK  Black
BZ  Bronze
SV  Silver
WH  White

ML  Multi Level 4
PC  Photocell
PML  Programmable 
Multi Level 4
NO  No Options

ORDER:

WP Series  LED SECURITY WALL PACK

Example: WLS-WP-B-WM-3ME-2L-40K-UH-BK-NO

FOOTNOTES:
1   Lumen Package selection codes identify approximate light output only. Actual lumen output levels may vary depending on CCT 

and optic selection. Refer to Initial Delivered Lumen tables for specific lumen values
2   For use with PC option only
3   Consult factory for availability
4    Available with UL voltage only

Electrical Data

Lumen 
Package CCT/CRI

System Watts
Efficacy

Total Current (A)

120-480V 120V 208V 240V 277V 347V 480V

2L

30K/70 CRI 20 125 0.17 0.10 0.08 0.07 0.06 0.05

40K/70 CRI 19 131 0.16 0.09 0.08 0.07 0.06 0.04

50K/90 CRI 24 104 0.20 0.11 0.10 0.08 0.07 0.05

57K/70 CRI 19 131 0.16 0.09 0.08 0.07 0.06 0.04

4L

30K/70 CRI 33 129 0.28 0.16 0.14 0.13 0.10 0.07

40K/70 CRI 31 138 0.27 0.15 0.13 0.12 0.09 0.07

50K/90 CRI 40 107 0.34 0.20 0.17 0.16 0.12 0.09

57K/70 CRI 31 138 0.26 0.15 0.13 0.12 0.09 0.07

6L

30K/70 CRI 51 120 0.43 0.25 0.22 0.19 0.14 0.11

40K/70 CRI 47 130 0.40 0.23 0.20 0.18 0.14 0.10

50K/90 CRI 60 102 0.51 0.29 0.25 0.23 0.17 0.13

57K/70 CRI 47 130 0.40 0.23 0.20 0.17 0.14 0.10

8L

30K/70 CRI 77 110 0.65 0.38 0.32 0.28 0.22 0.16

40K/70 CRI 72 118 0.61 0.35 0.31 0.27 0.21 0.15

50K/90 CRI 78 89 0.66 037 0.33 0.29 0.22 0.16

57K/70 CRI 71 119 0.60 035 0.30 0.26 0.20 0.15

Electrical data at 25˚C (77˚F). Actual wattage may differ by +/- 10% when operating between 120-480V +/- 10%

1919 Windsor Place
Fort Worth, TX 76110
800.633.8711

www.wlslighting.com

Project Name:
Date:
Location:

Notes:

Specifications subject to change without notice.
29 REV. 07/20



WLS-WP-B-**-2ME-8L-40K-UL
Mounting Height: 15' (4.6m) A.F.G.
Initial Delivered Lumens: 8,475
Initial FC at grade

CESTL Test Report #: PL12798-001A
WLS-WP-B-**-2ME-8L-40K-UL
Initial Delivered Lumens: 8,622

WLS-WP-B-**-3ME-8L-40K-UL
Mounting Height: 15' (4.6m) A.F.G.
Initial Delivered Lumens: 8,475
Initial FC at grade

CESTL Test Report #: PL12366-007A
WLS-WP-B-**-3ME-8L-40K-UL
Initial Delivered Lumens: 8,543

XSPw Series  LED SECURITY WALL PACK

CESTL Test Report #: PL12798-001A
WLS-XSPW-B-**-2ME-8L-40K-UL
Initial Delivered Lumens: 8,622

1856

5569

7425

3712

150˚

120˚ 120˚

60˚

90˚ 90˚

60˚

30˚

150˚

Candlepower Trace: Vertical plane through
horizontal angle of maximum candlepower.

WLS-XSPW-B-**-2ME-8L-40K-UL
Mounting Height: 15' (4.6) A.F.G.
Initial Delivered Lumens: 8,475
Initial FC at grade

20'

20'

20' 20'

40'

40' 40'

6.1

0m

6.1

12.2

12.218.3 6.1 0m 6.1 12.2 18.324.4 24.4

24.4

0'

0'

40' 12.2

18.3

18.360'

60' 60'
80'

80' 80'

60'

Position of vertical plane
of maximum candlepower.

67.5˚

51

.1

.5
2

.2

CURBLINE

Type II Medium Distribution

Lumen 
Package

3000K 4000K 5000K 57000K

Initial Delivered 
Lumens*

BUG Ratings** 
Per TM-15-11

Initial Delivered 
Lumens*

BUG Ratings** 
Per TM-15-11

Initial Delivered 
Lumens*

BUG Ratings** 
Per TM-15-11

Initial Delivered 
Lumens*

BUG Ratings** 
Per TM-15-11

2L 2,490 B1 U0 G1 2,490 B1 U0 G1 2,490 B1 U0 G1 2,490 B1 U0 G1

4L 4,270 B1 U0 G1 4,270 B1 U0 G1 4,270 B1 U0 G1 4,270 B1 U0 G1

6L 6,100 B1 U0 G2 6,100 B1 U0 G2 6,100 B1 U0 G2 6,100 B1 U0 G2

8L 8,475 B2 U0 G2 8,475 B2 U0 G2 6,925 B1 U0 G2 8,475 B2 U0 G2

2ME

* Initial delivered lumens at 25° C (77° F). Actual production yield may vary between -10 and +10% of initial delivered lumens.
** For more information on the IES BUG (Backlight - Uplight - Glare) Rating visit https://www.ies.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/TM-15-11bugratingsAddendum.pdf

Type III Medium Distribution

Lumen 
Package

3000K 4000K 5000K 57000K

Initial Delivered 
Lumens*

BUG Ratings** 
Per TM-15-11

Initial Delivered 
Lumens*

BUG Ratings** 
Per TM-15-11

Initial Delivered 
Lumens*

BUG Ratings** 
Per TM-15-11

Initial Delivered 
Lumens*

BUG Ratings** 
Per TM-15-11

2L 2,490 B1 U0 G1 2,490 B1 U0 G1 2,490 B1 U0 G1 2,490 B1 U0 G1

4L 4,270 B1 U0 G1 4,270 B1 U0 G1 4,270 B1 U0 G1 4,270 B1 U0 G1

6L 6,100 B1 U0 G2 6,100 B1 U0 G2 6,100 B1 U0 G2 6,100 B1 U0 G2

8L 8,475 B2 U0 G2 8,475 B2 U0 G2 6,925 B1 U0 G2 8,475 B2 U0 G2

CESTL Test Report #:  PL12366-007A
WLS-XSPW-B-**-3ME-8L-40K-UL
Initial Delivered Lumens: 8,543

1411

4232

5643

2821

150˚

120˚ 120˚

60˚

90˚ 90˚

60˚

30˚

150˚

Candlepower Trace: Vertical plane through
horizontal angle of maximum candlepower.

WLS-XSPW-B-**-3ME-8L-40K-UL
Mounting Height: 15' (4.6m) A.F.G.
Initial Delivered Lumens: 8,475
Initial FC at grade

20'

20'

20' 20'

40'

40' 40'

6.1

0m

6.1

12.2

12.218.3 6.1 0m 6.1 12.2 18.324.4 24.4

24.4

0'

0'

40' 12.2

18.3

18.360'

60' 60'
80'

80' 80'

60'

Position of vertical plane
of maximum candlepower.

60˚

.2

5
1

.1

.5
2

CURBLINE

3ME

* Initial delivered lumens at 25° C (77° F). Actual production yield may vary between -10 and +10% of initial delivered lumens.
** For more information on the IES BUG (Backlight - Uplight - Glare) Rating visit https://www.ies.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/TM-15-11bugratingsAddendum.pdf

1919 Windsor Place
Fort Worth, TX 76110
800.633.8711

www.wlslighting.com

Project Name:
Date:
Location:

Notes:

Specifications subject to change without notice.
29 REV. 07/20



WP Series  LED SECURITY WALL PACK

WLS-WP-B-**-4ME-8L-40K-UL
Mounting Height: 15' (4.6m) A.F.G.
Initial Delivered Lumens: 8,475
Initial FC at grade

RESTL Test Report #: PL14415-001A
WLS-WP-B-**-4ME-8L-40K-UL
Initial Delivered Lumens: 8,763

Type IV Medium Distribution

Lumen 
Package

3000K 4000K 5000K 57000K

Initial Delivered 
Lumens*

BUG Ratings** 
Per TM-15-11

Initial Delivered 
Lumens*

BUG Ratings** 
Per TM-15-11

Initial Delivered 
Lumens*

BUG Ratings** 
Per TM-15-11

Initial Delivered 
Lumens*

BUG Ratings** 
Per TM-15-11

2L 2,490 B1 U0 G1 2,490 B1 U0 G1 2,490 B1 U0 G1 2,490 B1 U0 G1

4L 4,270 B1 U0 G1 4,270 B1 U0 G1 4,270 B1 U0 G1 4,270 B1 U0 G1

6L 6,100 B1 U0 G2 6,100 B1 U0 G2 6,100 B1 U0 G2 6,100 B1 U0 G2

8L 8,475 B1 U0 G2 8,475 B1 U0 G2 6,925 B1 U0 G2 8,475 B1 U0 G2

RESTL Test Report #:  PL14415-001A
WLS-XSPW-B-**-4ME-8L-40K-UL
Initial Delivered Lumens:  8,763

1936

5809

7745

3872

150˚

120˚ 120˚

60˚

90˚ 90˚

60˚

30˚

150˚

Candlepower Trace: Vertical plane through
horizontal angle of maximum candlepower.

WLS-XSPW-B-**-4ME-8L-40K-UL
Mounting Height:  15' (4.6m) A.F.G.
Initial Delivered Lumens:  8,475
Initial FC at grade

20'

20'

20' 20'

40'

40' 40'

6.1

0m

6.1

12.2

12.218.3 6.1 0m 6.1 12.2 18.324.4 24.4

24.4

0'

0'

40' 12.2

18.3

18.360'

60' 60'
80'

80' 80'

60'

Position of vertical plane
of maximum candlepower.

25˚

CURBLINE

.1 .2
.5

1
2

5

4ME

* Initial delivered lumens at 25° C (77° F). Actual production yield may vary between -10 and +10% of initial delivered lumens.
** For more information on the IES BUG (Backlight - Uplight - Glare) Rating visit https://www.ies.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/TM-15-11bugratingsAddendum.pdf

1919 Windsor Place
Fort Worth, TX 76110
800.633.8711

www.wlslighting.com

Project Name:
Date:
Location:

Notes:

Specifications subject to change without notice.
29 REV. 07/20



DIMENSIONS

Made in the U.S.A. of the U.S. and imported parts.  
Meets Buy American requirments for ARRA.

1919 Windsor Place
Fort Worth, TX 76110
800.622.8711

www.wlslighting.com

Project Name:
Date:
Location:

Notes:

Specifications subject to change without notice.

Type:

01 REV. 01/19

CLxm Series  LED area

SPECIFICATIONS
Optical System
• State-of-the-Art one piece silicone optic sheet delivers industry leading optical control with an integrated gasket to provide 

IP66 rated sealed optical chamber in 1 component.
• Proprietary silicone refractor optics provide exceptional coverage and uniformity in IES Types 2, 3, 5W, FT and FTA.
• Silicone optical material does not yellow or crack with age and provides a maximum light transmittance of 93%.
• Zero uplight.
• Available in 5000K, 4000K, 3000K, 2700K and Amber (+/- 275K) color temperatures.
• Minimum CRI of 70. 
• Integral Louver (IL) option available for improved back-light control without sacrificing street side performance.

Electrical
• High-performance driver features over-voltage, under-voltage, short-circuit and over temperature protection.
• 0-10V dimming (10% - 100%) standard.
• Standard Universal Voltage (120-277 Vac) Input 50/60 Hz or optional High Voltage (347-480 Vac).
• L80 Calculated Life: >100k Hours
• Total harmonic distortion: <20%
• Operating temperature: -40°C to +50°C (-40°F to +122°F)
• Power factor: >.90
• Input power stays constant over life.
• Field replaceable surge protection device meets a minimum Category C Low operation (per ANSI/IEEE C62.41.2).
• High-efficacy LEDs mounted to metal-core circuit board to maximize heat dissipation.
• Terminal block provided accepts up to 10ga wire.
• Components are fully encased in potting material for moisture resistance. Driver complies with FCC standards. Driver and key 

electronic components can easily be accessed.

Construction
• Rugged die-cast aluminum housing contains factory prewired driver and optical unit. Cast aluminum wiring access door 

located underneath.
• Designed to mount to square poles without need for pole adaptors.
• Luminaire is proudly made in the U.S. of U.S. and imported parts.
• IP66 rated luminaire protects integral components from harsh environments.
• 3G rated for ANSI C136.31 high vibration applications.
• Fixtures are finished with WLS’s DuraGrip® polyester powder coat finishing process. The DuraGrip finish withstands extreme 

weather changes without cracking or peeling. Other standard WLS finishes available.
• Shipping weight: 30 lbs in carton.

Controls
• Optional integral passive infrared motion and daylight sensor activates switching of luminaire light levels
• 7-pin ANSI C136.41-2013 photocontrol receptacle option available for twist lock photocontrols or wireless control modules.

Installation
• A single fastener secures the hinged door, underneath the housing and provides quick & easy access to the electrical com-

partment for installing/servicing.
• Included terminal block provides quick and easy on-site wiring.
• Utilizes WLS’s traditional 3” drill pattern for easy fastening of WLS products.

Warranty
• WLS LED Fixtures carry a 5-year warranty.

Listings
• Listed to UL 1598 and UL 8750.
• RoHS Compliant.
• American Recovery and Reinvestment Act Funding Compliant.
• Suitable For wet Locations.
• IP66 rated Luminaire. IP66 rated optical chamber.
• 3G rated for ANSI C136.31 high vibration applications



ORDERING INFORMATION   SELECT APPROPRIATE CHOICE FROM EACH COLUMN TO FORMULATE  ORDER CODE.  
Refer to example below.

SERIES LIGHT 
SOURCE LUMENS PACKAGE LIGHT

OUTPUT DISTIBUTION ORIENTATION1 VOLTAGE DRIVER COLOR
TEMPERATURE

CLXM LED 9L  9,000 lms
12L  12,000 lms
18L  18,000 lms
24L  24,000 lms
30L  30,000 lms
36L  36,000 lms
42L  42,000 lms

SIL  Silicone 2  Type 2
3  Type 3
5W  Type 5 Wide
FT  Type Forward Throw
FTA  Forward Throw 
Automotive

(blank) - standard
L  Optics rotated left 90
R  Optics rotated right 90

UNV  Universal Voltage
(120-277v)
HV  High Voltage
(347-480v)

DIM  0-10v Dimming (0-10%) 27  2,700 CCT2

30  3,000 CCT2

40  4,000 CCT
50  5,000 CCT
AMB  Amber2,3

ORDER:
WLS-CLXM LED SIL DIM

COLOR
RENDERING CONTROLS FINISH OPTIONS

70CRI  70 CRI EXT  0-10v Dimming (from external signal)
IMS  Integral Motion & Daylight Sensor4,5

BRZ  Bronze
BLK  Black
GPT  Graphite
MSV  Metallic Silver
WHT  White
PLP  Platinum Plus
SVG  Satin Verde Green
CC7  Custom Color

(Blank)  None
Button Type Photocells7

PCI120  120V
PC1208-277  208-277V
PCI347  347V
CR7P  7 Pin Photoelectric Control Receptacle6

IL  Integral Louver HSS1

CLxm Series  LED area

Example: WLS-CLXM-LED-30L-SIL-5W-UNV-DIM-40-70CRI-EXT-BRZ-IL

FOOTNOTES:
1   Not available on "Type 5W" distribution.
2   Consult factory for availability.
3   Only available in 9L and 12L lumen packages.
4   Not available in HV.
5   IMS is field adjustable, via a hand held Remote Configurator Toool, which must be ordered separatly.
6   Control device must be oredered separately.
7   Factory installed CR7P option required.

LUMINAIRE EPA CHART - CLXM

Single 0.6

D180° 1.1

D90° 0.9

T90° 1.9

TN120° 1.9

Q90° 2.1

ELECTRICAL DATA

Lumens Watts 120V 208V 240V 277V 347V 480V

9L 68.2 0.6A 0.3A 0.3A 0.2A 0.2A 0.1A

12L 93.1 0.8A 0.4A 0.4A 0.3A 0.3A 0.2A

18L 148.5 1.2A 0.7A 0.6A 0.5A 0.4A 0.3A

24L 188.8 1.6A 0.9A 0.8A 0.7A 0.5A 0.4A

30L 248.6 2.1A 1.2A 1.0A 0.9A 0.7A 0.5A

36L 317.8 2.6A 1.5A 1.3A 1.1A 0.9A 0.7A

42L 393.4 3.3A 1.9A 1.6A 1.4A 1.1A 0.8A

1919 Windsor Place
Fort Worth, TX 76110
800.622.8711

www.wlslighting.com

Project Name:
Date:
Location:

Notes:

Specifications subject to change without notice.
01 REV. 01/19




	Agenda
	November Meeting Minutes
	Site Plan Range USA
	Staff Report Range USA 12.16.2021.pdf
	Case Location and Summary
	Applicant
	Cross References
	Analysis

	Range USA Directors Report 01.04.2022.pdf
	YCUA PSP#2 12.16.2021.pdf
	Charter Township of Ypsilanti


	4 - Preliminary Building Floor Plan & Elevations.pdf
	Sheets
	P - 100 - FLOOR PLAN - PRES
	P - 101 - PRESENTATION ELEVATIONS-EW
	P - 102 - PRESENTATION ELEVATIONS-NS
	P - 103 - KEYNOTES AND MATERIALS



